
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

April 1, 2025 9:00 am 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember John Riggs  

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

 

A) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2025 as “Autism Awareness 

Month”.  

B) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2025 as “Child Abuse Prevention 

Month”. 

C) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2025 as “Sexual Assault Awareness 

and Prevention Month”. 

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 03-18-2025 Council Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion to approve surplus and disposition of equipment in the 

Public Works and Engineering Department. 

 

6. Public hearing & consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

 

A. Nouria Energy Retail, Inc.  

d/b/a Nouria 1609 Fair Road  

     Located:1609 Fair Rd. 

     License Type: Package Sales (Beer & Wine only) 

 

B. Nouria Energy Retail, Inc. 

d/b/a Nouria 2298 Northside Drive West  

      Located: 2298 Northside Dr. West 

      License Type: Package Sales (Beer & Wine only) 

 

C. Nouria Energy Retail 

d/b/a Nouria 17874 Highway 67 

     Located: 17874 Hwy 67 

     License Type: Package Sales (Beer & Wine only) 

 

 



 

 

7. Consideration of motion to approve a termination of corporate guaranty with Aspen 

Aerogels, Bulloch County, and Georgia Department of Community Affairs (DCA). 

 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve an updated contract for Municipal Court Software 

with Justice One. The previous contract, approved in June 2023, was for $9 per paid 

citation (paid by the violator), or $1500 per month.  The new contract is for $11 per paid 

citation (paid by the violator) or $2000 per month, whichever is greater.   

 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve a Purchase Agreement for right-of-way property 

acquisition on West Main Street for the West Main Street/Johnson Street/Martin Luther 

King, Jr Drive intersection improvement project, ENG-123c. Funding is provided from 

2018 TSPLOST. 

 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve a contract with Tidwell Traffic Solutions in the 

amount of $74,030.25 for street pavement marking replacement. This project will be paid 

by 2018 TSPLOST funds. 

 

11. Other Business from City Council 

 

12.  City Managers Comments 

 

13. Public Comments (General) 

 

14. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 
AUTISM AWARENESS AND ACCEPTANCE 

MONTH 
 
WHEREAS:  autism is a lifelong disorder, characterized by varying levels of impairment 

of an individual’s ability to communicate, understand social interactions, and 
develop appropriate interactive behaviors; and  

WHEREAS:  there is no cure for autism, however with early treatment and therapy it is 
often possible for an individual with autism to lead a significantly improved 
life; and  

WHEREAS: autism not only affects the diagnosed person, but also the family, friends and 
the community; and  

WHEREAS: the Behavioral Pediatric Resource Center was established to provide online 
resources, outreach, and training to bring education and awareness to families 
and community members.  

 
   
NOW, THEREFORE I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby 
proclaim the month of April 2025 as:  

 
AUTISM AWARENESS MONTH 

 
in the City of Statesboro and encourage all employees, citizens, and members of the 
business community to become educated about autism, encourage acceptance of people 
with autism, and support non-profit organizations such as the Behavioral Pediatrics 
Resource Center, who bring opportunities to enhance autism awareness and 
acceptance in our community.   
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the City 
of Statesboro to be affixed this 1st day of April 2025. 
 

   
 

 
  
 

______________________ 
 Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 

Child Abuse Prevention Month 
 

WHEREAS:  Prevention is possible. With the right policies and investments, families and children can thrive and avoid contact 
with child welfare and other costly systems; and      

WHEREAS:  the early experiences of a child impact them throughout life – both positively and negatively; and   

WHEREAS: every family and child is filled with tremendous promise, and we all have a collective responsibility to prevent 
Adverse Childhood Experiences, foster the potential of every child, and promote Positive Childhood Experiences; 
and    

WHEREAS: Positive Childhood Experiences such as loving caregivers and safe, stable, and nurturing relationships play a vital 
role in helping children thrive by mitigating trauma and the negative impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences; 
and 

WHEREAS: families who receive the support they need before a crisis occurs are better equipped to provide safe, healthy, and 
nurturing environments, leading to children who are safer, healthier, and more hopeful about their futures; and    

WHEREAS: childhood trauma, including abuse and neglect, can have long-term psychological, emotional, and physical effects 
throughout an individual’s lifetime and impact future generations; and 

WHEREAS: primary prevention of child abuse and neglect can reduce the lifetime economic burden associated with child 
maltreatment; and  

WHEREAS: strengthening families through access to concrete economic, social, and community-based supports reduces the 
likelihood of abuse and neglect and ensures children have the foundation for lifelong well-being; and 

WHEREAS: effective child abuse prevention activities succeed because of the partnerships created between child welfare 
professionals, education, health, community- and faith-based organizations, businesses, law enforcement agencies, 
and families; and  

WHEREAS:   communities must make every effort to promote programs and activities that create strong and thriving children 
and families; and  

WHEREAS: we acknowledge that we must work together as a community to increase awareness about child abuse and 
contribute to promoting the social and emotional well-being of children and families in a safe, stable, and nurturing 
environment; and  

WHEREAS: investments in prevention initiatives—such as home visiting programs, family-strengthening policies, economic 
supports, and community-based child abuse prevention efforts—are essential to building safer, healthier 
communities for children and families; and  

WHEREAS: prevention remains the best defense for our children and families.   
   

NOW, THEREFORE I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby proclaim April 2025, as: 
    

Child Abuse Prevention Month 
 

In the City of Statesboro, and urge all citizens to recognize this month by dedicating ourselves to the task of improving the 
quality of life for all children and families. Together we can create a state where every child can grow up happy, healthy, and 
safe with hope for the future.  

                                            
            Dated this 1st day of April 2025. 

 
                      ______________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor  



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 
Sexual Assault Awareness and Prevention Month 

 

 

WHEREAS:  the National Sexual Violence Resource Center designated the month of April as 
Sexual Assault Awareness and Prevention Month to raise awareness about sexual 
violence; and  

WHEREAS:  Sexual violence is a broad term that includes unwanted sexual contact and is a 
widespread issue which effects individuals of all races, genders, ages, and 
economic backgrounds; and  

WHEREAS: On average 463,634 sexual assaults occur in America each year according to the 
Rape, Abuse, & Incest National Network (2025); and  

WHEREAS: The Teal House: Statesboro Regional Sexual Assault Center has served 752 victims 
of sexual assault in Statesboro and the surrounding area since 2007; and  

WHEREAS: Victims of sexual assault are at an elevated risk for mental health concerns, 
substance use disorders, relationship impairment, pregnancy, and sexually 
transmitted infections (RAINN 2025); and 

WHEREAS: the City of Statesboro is dedicated to promoting the safety and well-being of 
community members and supports survivors of sexual violence in their journey 
toward healing and recovery; and 

WHEREAS: through increased awareness, education, and efforts for prevention we can come 
together to support survivors and work toward the goal of ending sexual violence 
in our community.   

   
NOW, THEREFORE I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby 
proclaim the month of April 2025 as:  

 
SEXUAL ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION MONTH. 

 
 

     
 
Dated this 1ST  day of April, 2025. 

 
  
 

______________________ 
 Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

MARCH 18, 2025 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Tangie Johnson Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Ginny Hendley Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Affairs Manager Layne 
Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 03-04-2025 Council Minutes 
b) 03-04-2025 Executive Session Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Tangie Johnson 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



2 
 

5. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION V-25-01-03: 
Whitfield Signs requests a variance from Table 2.5.3-C of the Unified Development Code in 
order to place a 520.5 square foot sign on a building located at 152 Northside Drive East (Tax 
Parcel # MS84 000003A001). 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
Planning and Housing Administrator Justin Williams explained Council deferred this request at the February 18, 2025 
meeting with the caveat it go back before the Planning Commission with the proposed revision. The applicants’ original 
request for a 520 square foot sign last month was amended to an approximately 316 square foot sign. The amended 
application went back before the Planning Commission on March 4, 2025 and was approved with staff conditions by a 
4-0 vote. Staff also recommends approval of the request.  
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
A motion was made to approve with staff conditions APPLICATION V-25-01-03: Whitfield Signs requests a variance 
from Table 2.5.3-C of the Unified Development Code in order to place a 520.5 square foot sign on a building located at 
152 Northside Drive East (Tax Parcel # MS84 000003A001).  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley  

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

6. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 
 
 Sports Bar Grill & Lounge 
 2390 Northside Dr. West 
 Owner: Cynthia R. Wilson 
 License Type: Restaurant 
 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley announced she is recusing herself from this item.  
 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the application.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
A motion was made to approve the application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a) issued to Sports Bar Grill & Lounge located at 2390 Northside Dr. West, Owner: Cynthia R. 
Wilson for license type: Restaurant. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Tangie Johnson  

Councilmember John Riggs  

Johnson, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Johnson, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Johnson, Chavers, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve an Amended and Restated Intergovernmental 
Agreement with the City of Brooklet to allow for an increase in sewer treatment services. 
 

A motion was made to approve an Amended and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of Brooklet to 
allow for an increase in sewer treatment services.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve a Water-Sewer Agreement with Burkhalter-GSL, LLC 
to allow extension of water and sewer utilities to serve the Adelaide subdivision on Burkhalter 
Road (Tax Parcel 122 000013 000). 
  

A motion was made to approve a Water-Sewer Agreement with Burkhalter-GSL, LLC to allow extension of water and 
sewer utilities to serve the Adelaide subdivision on Burkhalter Road (Tax Parcel 122 000013 000).  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve Amendment #1 to Task Order 7 with Goodwyn, Mills, 
and Cawood LLC (GMC) increasing the contract from $131,250.00 to $158,750.00 for the 
Little Lotts Creek tributary stream restoration project. This project will be paid by Section 
319(h) grant funds and Stormwater Utility operating revenue funds. 
 

A motion was made to approve Amendment #1 to Task Order 7 with Goodwyn, Mills, and Cawood LLC (GMC) 
increasing the contract from $131,250.00 to $158,750.00 for the Little Lotts Creek tributary stream restoration project. 
This project will be paid by Section 319(h) grant funds and Stormwater Utility operating revenue funds. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Tangie Johnson  

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

5 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve Change Order #3, in the amount of $174,338.00, to 
Southern Civil for the Blower and Pump Upgrades Project at the Waste Water Treatment 
Plant. The project, WTP-24, is paid from Operating and ATC fee funds. 

 
A motion was made to approve Change Order #3, in the amount of $174,338.00, to Southern Civil for the Blower and 
Pump Upgrades Project at the Waste Water Treatment Plant. The project, WTP-24, is paid from Operating and ATC fee 
funds.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 

11. Other Business from City Council 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr encouraged everyone to get out and vote today before 7 pm if you haven’t done so yet.  
 

12. City Managers Comments 
City Manager Charles Penny announced that the City of Statesboro is taking in applications for its Youth Connect 
Program. The last day to apply is March 24, 2025. 
Mayor McCollar explained that Youth Connect is a program where we take approximately 30 students in the community 
for a five week period over the summer to work with the City and other partners across the community. It gives the 
students an opportunity to get on the job training and experience. If you know of any young people, who may be 
interested the application can be found on the City of Statesboro website. 
Mr. Penny shared there will be a meeting with the Quail Run subdivision on March 25, 2025 at 5:30 pm in the Council 
Chambers regarding the City’s sewer extension project.  
Mr. Penny stated at the last Council meeting he asked for authorization to be able to refund some money to an elderly 
woman who was charged an extremely large amount money for her utility bill over a six-month period due to a running 
toilet. The city received an email from her daughter expressing her appreciation and thanks for the action that you took 
to allow us to refund her mother those funds.    
Mr. Penny also announced that Brad Deal has been appointed as the Director of Public Works and Engineering and will 
begin sometime the latter part of April. 
 
The last item Mr. Penny addressed was the Automatic Aid Agreement. Since we have been having discussions with 
Bulloch County the item of automatic aid has been an item we have discussed quite a bit.  On December 3rd the Bulloch 
County Commissioners voted to cancel the Fire District Agreement effective July 1, 2025. The Automatic Aid agreement 
is a separate agreement that was approved by the City and County in April of 2020. A 90 day notice is required in order 
to terminate the agreement. We did discuss at the Council Retreat my recommendation that we give notice of our plan 
to terminate Automatic Aid. If we do not give notice and we don’t hit that 90 day window come July 1, 2025 the City 
will no longer protect the fire district. However, we would then be responsible for responding in the fire district or 
throughout the county as a part of Automatic Aid.  Mr. Penny asked Mayor and Council to consider approving that the 
City give notice to Bulloch County of the intention to terminate the Automatic Aid Agreement effective July 1, 2025. 
Taking this action in no way prevents the City of Statesboro from working with Bulloch County if they would like to 
work with us.   
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr explained that she echoes what Mr. Penny stated that the City is still open to trying to work 
something out. At this point the County has said they are taking it over and we’re out and that’s how it is but I certainly 
hope we can still work something out. I know it’s not fair for the City of Statesboro taxpayers to subsidize fire service 
out in the county so I understand the need legally for us to take this next step, but I want to be clear I regret it and still 
hope we can work something out.      

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

A motion was made to approve giving notice to Bulloch County to cancel the Automatic Aid Agreement.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 

13. Public Comments (General):  
Thomas Redfearn addressed his concerns about the City’s Massage Parlor Ordinance stating it is demeaning to his 
profession, is severely outdated and inconsistent with state law. Mr. Redfearn urged council to look into what he is saying 
and update the regulations.  
 
Mayor McCollar acknowledged that many city ordinances are outdated and we are working through them. For that 
particular thing, we’ve typically deferred to the state law. We have not gotten to the point of massage parlors but at some 
point the whole thing will be updated it’s just going to take a little time.   
 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr shared that this weekend will be the first ever Fine Arts Festival in Statesboro. There are 
approximately 40 artist from around the region who will be competing and the Mayor will be awarding the winner on 
Saturday. The event will take place at the Visitors Center Farmers Market. Two weeks after that event on Friday April 
4th the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority will host a tasting tour downtown and the next day April 5th the 
Farmers Market will reopen. 
 

Mr. Penny stated that the meeting for the Quail Run subdivision will take place over at Georgia Sothern’s BIG campus 
at 64 East Main Street not in the Council Chambers.   
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

No executive session was held.  
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:57 pm.  
 

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Tangie Johnson  

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Councilmember Tangie Johnson  

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathon McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager  

Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  Marcos Trejo Jr., P.E., Assistant Director of Public Works  
   
Date:  3/21/2025 
 
RE:  Recommendation for Approval to Surplus Public Works Equipment 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy: Vehicle and Equipment Surplus and Disposition 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends Council Approval of surplus and disposition of equipment in the 
Public Works and Engineering Department. 
 
Background:  
The items on the asset surplus list attachment have exceeded their useful life and need 
to be declared surplus and approved for disposition.  
 
Budget Impact:   
Reduce Maintenance Cost 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachment:   Asset Surplus List  
 



 

 

 

City of Statesboro 
Department of Public Works & Engineering 

P.O. Box 348     912.764.0681 (Voice) 

Statesboro, Georgia   30459  912.764.7680 (Fax) 

     publicworks@statesboroga.gov 

Asset Surplus List  
March 21, 2025 

 

 
Streets and Parks Division 

1. Husqvarna Chop Saw K760 

2. (3) Husqvarna Chainsaw 455 Rancher 

3. Stihl Handheld Blower BG-53C 

4. (2) Echo Line Trimmers SRM-2620T 

5. Hedge Trimmers (Head & Handle only) SHC-225 

6. Echo EA-500 Auger ( not working) 

7. Echo EA-410 Auger ( not working) 

8. (3) Echo Weed Eaters (out of service) SRM-2620T 

9. Echo Blower PB-250 

10. Echo Edger motor PE-2620 

11. Echo Edger PE-266 

12. Power Pruner Pole Saw (not running) 

13. Echo Chain Saw CS-301 

14. (2) Echo Chain Saw CS-355T (motor only) 

15. Honda Plate Tamp GX-160 

16. Echo Blower PB500T (not running) 

17. Sun Shade Top Exmark Mower 

Stormwater Division 
1. CUES CCTV Sewer Inspection Camera and Reel Assembly, S#17100238CUES 
2. 1992 Ford C7000 Diesel Flatbed Dumptruck VIN: 1FTRF12W99KA73186 

 
Solid Waste Disposal Division 

1. 2014 FINN Straw Blower, S/N: 1F9BS141XFF135233 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: March 24, 2025 
 
RE: Nouria Energy (1609 Fair Rd.)  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Shari Barr, District 5 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 





















Nouria  
Nouria Energy Retail Inc 
1609 Fair Rd 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
            
Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 01-29-2025 No Proximity needed. This 
location had a previous Alcohol License  

Fire Department Jon 
Patterson 

Approved 2/10/2025 

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved 3/21/25 

Legal Cain Smith Approved  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: March 24, 2025 
 
RE: Nouria Energy (2298 Northside Dr. West)  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Tangie Johnson, District 1 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 





















Nouria  
Nouria Energy Retail Inc. 
2298 Northside Dr. West 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
            
Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 01-29-2025 No Proximity needed. This 
location had a previous Alcohol License 

Fire Department Jon 
Patterson 

Approved 2/4/2025 

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved 3/21/25 

Legal Cain Smith Approved  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: March 24, 2025 
 
RE: Nouria Energy (17874 Hwy 67)  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Shari Barr, District 5 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 





















Nouria  
Nouria Energy Retail Inc. 
17874 Hwy 67 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
            
Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 01-29-2025 No Proximity needed. This 
location had a previous Alcohol License 

Fire Department Jon 
Patterson 

Approved 2/3/2024 

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved 3/21/25 

Legal Cain Smith Approved  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson  
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: March 28, 2025 
 
RE: April 1, 2025 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of motion to approve a termination of corporate 
guaranty with Aspen Aerogels, Bulloch County, and Georgia Department of 
Community Affairs (DCA) 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: On May 21, 2023 Statesboro and Bulloch County were awarded 
$750,000 in EIP grant funds to assist with utility infrastructure for the Aspen site. 
Aspen has backed out of using site and must repay the $741,000 the City has 
drawn in grant funds. Upon receipt of funds, City shall forward same to DCA. This 
action will relieve all parties of future obligations under the grant.  
  
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
Attachments: Termination of corporate guaranty  



 

TERMINATION OF CORPORATE GUARANTY 
 

This Termination of Corporate Guaranty (“Termination Agreement”), is made and 
entered into this ______ day of ______2025 (“Effective Date”), by and between the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia (the “City”), whose address is 50 E. Main Street, Statesboro, Georgia 30458,  
Aspen Aerogels Inc, located at 30 Forbes Road, Bldg. B., Northborough, MA 01532 
(“Guarantor”), and acknowledged by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs (“DCA”), 
whose address is 60 Executive Park South, NE, Atlanta, Georgia 30329, and Bulloch County, 
Georgia (“County”), whose address is 113 N Main St., Statesboro GA 30458, collectively, 
referred to as the “Parties.” 

 
WHEREAS, on May 1, 2023, DCA awarded the City and County $750,000.00 in 

Community Development Block Grant (“CDBG”) Employment Incentive Program (“EIP”) 
funds to specifically assist with water and sewer improvements needed to serve the Guarantor’s 
expansion;  

WHEREAS, on October 11, 2023, the City, the County, Aspen Aerogels GA, LLC 
(“Aspen GA”), and DCA executed the CDBG EIP Agreement (the “Agreement”). This 
Agreement included certain conditions and responsibilities that the City and Aspen GA had to 
comply and adhere to; 

 
WHEREAS, the Agreement implemented the EIP grant award of $750,000.00 (“Grant 

No. 22q-z-016-2-6328”) as delineated in the grant award, dated May 1, 2023, between DCA, 
the City and County jointly; 

 
WHEREAS, on November 21, 2023, the Guarantor executed the Corporate Guaranty 

(the “Guaranty”) in accordance with certain obligations owed by Aspen GA under the 
Agreement;  

 
WHEREAS, out of the EIP grant award of $750,000.00, the City has drawn $741,000.00 

of the grant award;   
 
WHEREAS, _______, the City acknowledged that the Guarantor repaid the 

$741,000.00 amount back to the City;  
 
WHEREAS, _______ , the City repaid the $741,000.00 back to DCA;  
 
WHEREAS, the Guarantor and the City have agreed that the Guaranty shall be 

terminated effective as of the Effective Date, which DCA and the County hereby acknowledge; 
and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants contained 

herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

 
Section 1. Termination of Guaranty. As of the Effective Date, the Guarantor is 
released from all obligations, liabilities, and responsibilities under the Guaranty. 



 

Accordingly, the Guaranty shall be deemed terminated. 
 
Section 2. Acknowledgment by DCA and the County. DCA and the County 
hereby acknowledge and agree to the termination of the Guaranty as provided 
herein and releases the Guarantor from any further claims, demands, or liabilities 
under or in connection with the Guaranty. 
 
Section 3. No Admission of Liability. It is understood and agreed that this 
Termination Agreement does not constitute an admission of liability by the 
Guarantor or an admission of any wrongdoing by any party or other, but is solely a 
reflection of the Parties’ desire to terminate the Guaranty under mutually agreed 
terms. 
 
Section 4. Governing Law. This Termination Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the state of Georgia, without regard to its 
conflicts of law provisions. 
 
Section 5. Entire Agreement. This Termination Agreement constitutes the entire 
Agreement between the Guarantor, City, and DCA with respect to the termination 
of the Guaranty and supersedes all prior discussions, negotiations, and agreements, 
whether written or oral, relating to such termination. 

 
Section 6. Counterparts. This Termination Agreement may be executed in any 
number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which 
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 

[REMAINDER OF THE PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Termination Agreement to be 

executed on the date first written above.  
 

 fth 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Acknowledged by:  

ASPEN AEROGELS, INC. 
 
 
 
By:   
Name: Ricardo Rodriguez 
Title: Chief Financial Officer  
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO  
 
 
 
By:   
Name: The Honorable Jonathon McCollar 
Title: Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BULLOCH COUNTY 
 
 
 
By:   
Name: David Bennett 
Title: Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF 
COMMUNITY AFFAIRS  
 
 
 
By:   
Name: G. Christopher Nunn 
Title: Commissioner  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:   Cindy West, Finance Director 
 
Date: 03-25-2025 
 
RE: Municipal Court Software Contract Update 
 
Policy Issue: Contract Update for Municipal Court Software 
 
Recommendation: Approval of the updated contract for Municipal Court 
Software with Justice One. The previous contract, approved in June 2023, was for 
$9 per paid citation (paid by the violator), or $1500 per month.  The new contract 
is for $11 per paid citation (paid by the violator) or $2000 per month, whichever is 
greater.   
 
Background:  The City of Statesboro’s Municipal Court uses Justice Once software 
to assist in their daily management and records keeping functions. This software is 
utilized to manage case files, records of fines and various other court processes. 
This software is compatible with all other required programs utilized concerning 
Municipal Court’s daily functions.  The update contract will allow the City to use 
the new court management platform used by Justice One.  The new platform is 
a cloud based system.  This should eliminate current issues with printers and 
scanners. 
 
Budget Impact:  Approximately $24,000/year 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments:  Contract 
 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson 
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
                   I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 









 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari R Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

 
From:  David Moyer, Assistant City Engineer 
   
Date:  March 24, 2025 
 
RE: Right-of-Way (ROW) acquisition for Intersection Improvements Project, ENG-123c 
 
Policy Issue:  Approval to Execute Purchase Agreement for Right of Way Acquisition 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approving payment to Seller for acquisition of Easements and/or Right-of-Way (ROW) 
for on-going transportation project listed below the City pursuant to the City’s Purchasing Policy. 
 
Project:  
 
The West Main Street intersection improvement project #ENG-123c aims to improve safety and traffic 
control at the intersection of West Main Street, Martin Luther King Jr. Drive, and Johnson Street 
through geometric improvements, including but not limited to installation of a roundabout. This parcel 
was identified as a “total take” in the project concept report.  Removal of the subject building will 
greatly increase the sight distance and safety at this intersection until improvements can be 
constructed.  
 
Currently the property is vacant and for sale.  The early acquisition allows the purchase from a willing 
seller without the complications of displacing an active business or potential imminent domain. Staff 
has negotiated an acceptable purchase agreement for the following parcel. 

West Main Street  
Parcel # S18 000177 000: 200 West Main Street      Robyn J. Hulsey (aka Robyn DeVecchis)       $160,000.00 
  
Budget Impact:   
Right-of-Way acquisition will be funded by 2018 TSPLOST funds. 

Council Person and District: 
District 2, Councilmember Paulette Chavers 
 
Attachment:  
Purchase Agreement 









 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  David Moyer, Assistant City Engineer 
 
Date:  March 24, 2025 
 
RE: Recommendation of Low Bidder for “City of Statesboro Street Striping FY 2025” 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing 
 
 
Recommendation:  
The low bidder, Tidwell Traffic Solutions, meets the requirements of the bid package and 
submitted an acceptable bid bond. Staff recommends awarding this contract to Tidwell 
Traffic Solutions in the amount of $74,030.25. 
 
 
Background:  
The work in this contract includes the installation of thermoplastic striping of approximately 
4.66 miles of city streets. The thermoplastic striping shall include 5 inch white and yellow solid 
striping, 5 inch white and yellow skip striping, 8 inch white solid striping, 24 inch white solid 
striping, type 2 turn Arrows, and yellow hatching. 
 
The low bidder is Tidwell Traffic Solutions with a bid of $74,030.25, followed by Mid-State 
Striping, Inc. with a bid of $74,739.50.  
 
 
Budget Impact:   
The project is to be paid for by 2018 TSPLOST funds in the amount of $74,030.25. 

 

Council Person and District: The street resurfacing list includes streets in each district. 
 
 
Attachments:  FY2025 Street Striping List 
   Street Striping Map 
 
 
CC:         Darren Prather, Director of Central Services 



Street Name Begin Termini End Termini Length
Average 
Width

5" solid 
White LF

5" Solid 
Yellow LF

5" Skip 
White LF

5" Skip 
Yellow

8" white 
stripe LF

Stop Bar 
24" LF

Turn 
Arrow

Yellow 
Hatching 
SY

Bobby Donaldson Ave 
Martin Luther King 
Jr.Drive Church St 0.219 19 0 2313 0 0 0 48 0 0

Harden Road West Jones Avenue Bruce Drive 0.412 21 4351 4351 0 0 0 42 0 0
Donnie Simmons Way Stockyard Road Carver Street 0.544 25 5745 5745 0 0 0 50 0 0
West Main Street Blitch Lane Foss Street 0.380 26 4027 4027 0 0 0 0 0 0
Miller Street Extension Stockyard Road  City Limits 0.229 21 2418 2418 0 0 0 21 0 0

Parker Street Bulloch Street West Jones Avenue 0.276 25 2916 2916 0 0 0 25 0 0
Vista Circle Bruce Drive South College Street 0.297 22 3132 3132 0 0 0 22 0 0

Rucker Lane  South Main Street 111 South Driveway 0.151 33 1713 904 52 584 268 32 7 102

Martin Luther King Jr. Drive Northside Drive West West Main Street 0.503 32 5310 5310 0 0 176 88 0 0

Buckhead Dr Henry Boulevard Northside Drive East 0.350 39 3298 2706 102 2096 433 25 9 23

East Olliff Street Packinghouse Road Zetterower Avenue 0.573 21 6052 6052 0 0 0 61 0 0
Total 38962 39873 154 2680 877 414 16 125



FY2025 City of Statesboro Striping

FY25 Striping

Bobby Donaldson Ave.

Harden Rd

Donnie Simmons Way

West Main St

Miller Street Extension

Parker St.

Vista Cir.

Rucker Lane

MLK Jr. Drive

Buckhead Drive

E. Olliff Street


	04-01-2025 Council Agenda
	Autism awareness and acceptance month April 2025
	2025 Child abuse prevention month - April
	Sexual Assault Awareness & Prevention month April 2025
	03-18-2025 Council Minutes
	Surplus Memo_March2025
	Asset Surplus List_03212025
	Nouria - 1609 Fair Rd
	Nouria - 2298 Northside
	Nouria - 17874 Hwy 67
	Agenda Memo - Update Justice One Contract
	Justice One Contract 2025
	CM Memo_Purchase Agreements W. Main St. Intersection Imp. sc
	200 West Main street purchase agreement signed
	FY 2025 Striping Low bidder Council Memo
	Street Striping List FY25
	FY25 COS Striping Map



